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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Civil Action No. -Civ-

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING O 9 - 6 O 2 9 4

COMMISSION, N A
AGISTRATE JUDGE
Plaintiff, CIV - HUCK O’SULLIVAN
v. FILED by _AS% p.C.
ZURICH FUTURES & OPTIONS, INC. and
MICHELE LABRUCE STE\EEBNIS 3 2003
CLERK U. s%%%%e
Defendants. S. D. of FLA. - MIAMI

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF,
AND FOR CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES UNDER
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED, 7 US.C. §§ 1 ET SEQ.
L
SUMMARY

1. From at least April 2006 through at least March 2007, Defendant Zurich Futures
& Options, Inc. (“Zurich™), through an internet website, solicitation materials, and the actionswof
its officers, employees, and agents, including, but not limited to, Defendant Michele LaBruce
(“LaBruce”), fraudulently solicited at least $1.45 million from at least 60 customers for the
purpose of trading on-exchange commodity options.

2. Through written solicitation materials, and other means, Zurich, through LaBruce
and others, created a false sense of security and legitimacy among prospective customers by

falsely claiming that it was a member of the National Futures Association (“NFA”), a registered

futures association for the U.S. commodity futures industry, and that it was registered as an
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Introducing Broker (“IB”) with the Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(“Commission” or “CFTC”). Zurich, through LaBruce and others, also fraudulently solicited
customers by, among other misrepresentations and omissions, creating a false impression that it
was a successful and well-established international IB with an experienced investment team and
offices in Zurich, Switzerland and Toronto, Canada.

3. Almost all of Zurich’s customers lost their money trading through Zurich. After
collecting over $1.3 million in commissions and fees on this trading, Zurich abruptly shut down
its operation with no notification to its customers and no way for customers to locate or get in
touch with Zurich or any of its officers, agents or employees.

4. LaBruce directed and controlled the activities of Zurich, including, but not limited
to, the preparation and dissemination of solicitation and account opening materials and the
administration of the Zurich website, which included the false claims that Zurich was a member
of the NFA, registered with the Commission, and/or a successful and established IB with offices
in Switzerland and Canada. LaBruce also controlled Zurich’s bank accounts, into which the fees
and commissions earned by Zurich were deposited.

5. Zurich’s and LaBruce’s (collectively the “Defendants™) fraudulent solicitations
violate Section 4¢(b) of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (“Act”), 7 U.S.C. § 4c(b)
(2006), and Commission Regulations 33.10(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.10(a) and (c) (2008).

6. Zurich’s solicitation and acceptance of orders for the purchase or sale of
commodity option contracts, while failing to register as an IB, violates Section 4d(a) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 4d(a) and (b) (2006), and Commission Regulations 33.3(a) and (b), 17 C.F.R. §§

33.3(a) and (b) (2008).
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7. Zurich’s false representations that it is a registrant under the Act and a member of
the NFA while soliciting or handling orders for commodity options transactions violate Section
4h of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6h (2006).

8. LaBruce directly or indirectly controlled Zurich and did not act in good faith or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Zurich’s violations alleged in this
Complaint; therefore, LaBruce is liable for Zurich’s violations of the Act and Commission
Regulations pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

9. LaBruce’s association with an IB as a partner, officer, employee, or agent in a
capacity that involves the solicitation or acceptance of customers’ orders, or the supervision of
any person or persons so engaged, while failing to register as an Assdciated Person (“AP”),
violates Section 4k(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(1) (2006), and Commission Regulation
33.3(b)(iii), 17 C.F.R. 33.3(b)(ii1) (2008).

10.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, the Commission
brings this action to enjoin Defendants’ unlawful acts and practices and to compel their
compliance with the Act and Commission Regulations. In addition, the Commission seeks
restitution to customers for losses proximately caused by Defendants’ fraud, disgorgement of
Defendants’ ill-gotten gains, civil monetary penalties, and such other relief as this Court may
deem necessary or appropriate.

11.  Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to
engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and practices, as more

fully described below.
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IL
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12.  The Act establishes a comprehensive system for regulating the purchase and sale
of commodity futures and options. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to
Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006).

13. Section 6¢ of the Act provides that whenever it shall appear to the Commission
that any person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting
a violation of any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order promulgated thereunder,
the Commission may bring an action against such person to enjoin such practice or to enforce
compliance with the Act.

14.  Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 13a-1(e) (2006), in that Defendants transacted business in this District, and the acts and
practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are occurring, or are about to occur, within this
District, among other places.

118
THE PARTIES

15.  Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal
regulatory agency that is charged with the administration and enforcement of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§§ 1 et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

16.  Defendant Zurich Futures & Options, Inc. was incorporated in Belize on
January 17, 2006. Although the company represented on its website and on other documents that

it was headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland and had an additional office in Toronto, Canada, it
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operated out of the Hollywood, Florida area. Zurich has never been registered with the
Commission in any capacity.

17.  Defendant Michele LaBruce is an individual whose last known place of
residence is Hollywood, Florida. LaBruce was previously registered with the Commission as an
AP of Concorde Trading Group, Inc. from July 28, 1998 through August 31, 1998. She was also
previously approved as a Principal of numerous firms, including Royce Capital Futures and
Options, Inc. from June 30, 2003 through March 22, 2005, Bentley Trading Group, Inc. from
August 26, 2003 through June 22, 2004, Presidential FX from December 1, 2003 through March
25,2004, ProTrade Futures and Options from February 1, 2005 through October 27, 2006, and
Corporate Commodities, Inc, from June 22, 2005 through October 27, 2006. LaBruce currently
is not registered with the Commission in any capacity.

IV.
FACTS

A. Zurich Fraudulently Solicited Customers to Trade Commodity Options
Transactions

18. From approximately April 2006 through approximately March 2007, Zurich,
through an internet website, solicitation materials, and the actions of its officers, employees, and
agents, including LaBruce, was in the business of soliciting customers to open commodity
trading accounts and trade on-exchange commodity options through a registered Futures

Commission Merchant (“FCM?”) that carried and maintained the individual customers’ accounts.
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19. By soliciting persons to open commodity trading accounts to trade on-exchange
commodity options through a FCM, Zurich was acting as an IB.

20.  Defendants blatantly and falsely represented to prospective customers that Zurich
was an IB registered with the Commission and a member of the NFA in order to lull them into a
false sense of security and legitimacy about Zurich.

21.  Zurich, through LaBruce, prepared and sent all customers a packet of account
opening documents that they were required to sign and return to Zurich upon opening an
account. In that packet, Defendants included a document that represented in bold letters that
Zurich was a “National Futures Association Member, Registered with Commodity Futures
Trading Commission.”

22.  Although required to be registered to solicit persons to trade commodity options,
Zurich, in fact, has never been registered with the Commission or a member of the NFA in any
capacity.

23. Zurich’s brokers also misrepresented Zurich’s registration status when soliciting
customers. For example, one broker told his customer that Zurich “was a licensed company and
a very credible company.” Another broker told his customer that “everyone had their licenses.”

24.  To further create a sénse of security and legitimacy and lull prospective customers
to trade through Zurich, Defendants created the false impression that Zurich was an international
company and a successful and well-established IB with an experienced investment team. On its
website, brochures, brokers’ business cards, and other company documents, Defendants falsely
claimed that Zurich was located in Zurich, Switzerland with an additional office in Toronto,
Canada. Telephone numbers given to customers, as well as the address to which they were to

return documents, were similarly in either Zurich or Toronto.
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25.  Zurich’s brokers also created this false impression of a legitimate, successful,
international trading firm during the course of their solicitations of customers. One broker told
his customer that Zurich was an international company with offices in Europe. Another broker
told a customer upon taking over his account that the customer’s previous broker had moved to
the company’s Switzerland office. Yet another broker claimed that Zurich had been in existence
for ten to fifteen years.

26. Contrary to these representations, Defendants, in fact, operated out of Southern
Florida for less than a year, were not registered with the Commission or a member of the NFA,
and maintained only “virtual offices” or “mail drop” offices in Zurich and Toronto through
which they re-routed customer calls to Southern Florida and funneled mailings of solicitation
materials and account opening documents.

27. Based on its false representations, Zurich successfully solicited at least $1.45
million from at least 60 individuals to open commodity accounts and trade commodity options.

28.  Almost all of Defendants’ customers lost their money trading with Defendants
while the Defendants collected over $1.3 million in commissions and fees.

29.  After less than a year in operation, Defendants shut down operations with no
notice to customers and no way for customers to get in touch with Zurich or its brokers.

30.  Zurich, through LaBruce and others, made material misrepresentations and
omissions concerning its registration status, its history, and operations, and knew or was reckless
in not knowing that these representations and omissions were false and misleading. Zurich’s
customers relied on these misrepresentations and omissions in deciding to trade commodity

options through Zurich.
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B. LaBruce is a Controlling Person of Zurich

31. On January 18, 2006, Zurich appointed LaBruce as its “Attorney-in-Fact” to
“undertake the general interests of the company in any country in the world and ... [to] bind the
company in its relations with third parties or [her]self.” LaBruce was given broad authority
under this appointment, including, among other things, the authority to: (a) carry out acts and
transactions on behalf of the company; (b) represent the company before any judicial authority;
(c) sign contracts on behalf of the company; (d) open and close bank accounts for the company
and make deposits or withdrawals of funds of the company; and (e) acquire real estate on behalf
of the company.

32.  LaBruce signed the contracts on behalf of Zurich to rent the virtual office spaces
in Zurich, Switzerland and Toronto, Canada. LaBruce also directed the activities of the virtual
office staff working in those offices on behalf of Zurich, including the preparation and mailing of
solicitation materials and account opening documents sent to potential customers from those
offices.

33.  LaBruce was both the registrant and the administrative contact for Zurich’s
internet website.

34. LaBruce opened and controlled bank accounts in Zurich’s name. Commissions
and fees earned by Zurich were deposited into these bank accounts and, in at least one instance,

LaBruce directed the transfer of funds from a Zurich bank account to herself.
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V.
VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
COUNT ONE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4¢(b) OF THE ACT AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS
33.10(a) and (c):
SOLICITATION FRAUD, FRAUD BY
FALSE STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS (Options)

35.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 34 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

36. By and through internet website, solicitation materials, and the actions of Zurich’s
officers, agents or employees, including LaBruce, Defendants Zurich and LaBruce, in or in
connection with offers to enter into, the entry into, the confirmation of the execution of, or the
maintenance of, commodity option transactions, has cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat
or defraud customers or prospective customers, and willfully deceived or attempted to deceive
customers or prospective customers by, among other things, making false, deceptive, or
misleading representations and omissions of material facts in solicitations of individuals to trade
commodity options, including but not limited to those statements and omissions identified in
paragraphs 1 through 30 above, all in violation of Section 4¢c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b)
(2006), and Commission Regulations 33.10 (a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.10(a) and (c) (2008).

37.  Each act of solicitation fraud, including but not limited to those specifically

alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Section 4¢c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 6¢(b), and Commission Regulations 33.10(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.10(a) and (c).

38.  The foregoing acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures of Zurich’s

officers, agents, or employees, including LaBruce, occurred within the scope of each person’s
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employment, agency or office with Zurich. Zurich is therefore liable for these acts pursuant to
Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B).

39.  LaBruce, directly or indirectly, controlled Zurich and did not act in good faith, or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Zurich’s violations of Section
4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 4c(b) and Commission Regulations 33.10(a) and (¢), 17 C.F.R. §§
33.10(a) and (c). LaBruce is therefore liable for these violations pursuant to Section 13(b) of the
Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13¢(b) (2006).

COUNT TWO

VIOLATION OF SECTION 4h OF THE ACT:
FALSE REPRESENTATIONS AS TO REGISTRATION AND MEMBERSHIP

40.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

41. Defendant Zurich, through the actions of its officers, employees, and agents,
including LaBruce, violated Section 4h of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6h (2006), by falsely representing
itself to be a member of the NFA and a registrant of the Commission during the course of the

solicitation and opening of accounts for the purpose of trading commodity options,.

42. LaBruce, directly or indirectly, controlled Zurich and did not act in good faith, or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Zurich’s violations of Section 4h
of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6h (2006). LaBruce is therefore liable for these violations pursuant to

Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

10
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COUNT THREE

VIOLATION OF SECTION 4d(a) OF THE ACT AND COMMISSION REGULATION
33.3(b)(ii): FAILURE TO REGISTER AS AN INTRODUCING BROKER

43.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 42 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

44, Defendant Zurich, by engaging in soliciting or in accepting orders for the
purchase or sale of a commodity for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract
market and not accepting any money, securities, or property to margin, guarantee, or secure any
trades or contracts that result or may result therefrom, operated as an IB within the meaning of
Section 1a(23) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(23) (2006). By engaging as an IB in soliciting or
accepting such orders and soliciting or accepting orders from option customers for commodity
option transactions while failing to register with the Commission as an IB, Zurich violated
Section 4d(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 4d(a) (2006), and Commission Regulation 33.3(b)(ii), 17
C.F.R. 33.3(b)(ii) (2008).

45. LaBruce, directly or indirectly, controlled Zurich and did not act in good faith, or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Zurich’s violations of Section
4d(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 4d(a) (2006), and Commission Regulation 33.3(b)(ii), 17 C.F.R. 33.3
(2008). LaBruce is therefore liable for these violations pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13¢(b) (2006).

COUNT FOUR

VIOLATION OF SECTION 4k(1) OF THE ACT AND COMMISSION REGULATION
33.3(b)(iii): FAILURE TO REGISTER AS AN ASSOCIATED PERSON

46.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 45 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

11
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47.  Defendant LaBruce, by being associated with an IB as a partner, officer,
employee, or agent (or a person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions), in a
capacity that involves (i) the solicitation or acceptance of customers’ orders (other than in a
clerical capacity) or (ii) the supervision of any person or persons so engaged, operated as an AP
of Zurich within the meaning of Section 4k(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(1) (2006). By soliciting
or accepting orders from option customers for commodity option transactions, or supervising
persons so engaged, while failing to register with the Commission as an AP, LaBruce violated
Section 4k(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(1) (2006), and Commission Regulation 33.3(b)(iii), 17
C.F.R. 33.3(b)(iii) (2008).

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by Section 6¢

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and pursuant to its own equitable powers enter:

a) a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from engaging, directly or
indirectly, in conduct violative of Sections 4c(b), 4d(a), 4h, and 4k(1) of the Act,
7U.S.C. §§ 6¢(b), 6d(a), 6h, and 6k(1) (2006), and Commission Regulations
33.3(b)(ii) and (iit) and 33.10(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.3(b)(ii) and (iii) and
33.10(a) and (c) (2008);

b) a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from engaging, directly or
indirectly, in any activity related to trading in any commodity, as that term is
defined in Section 1a(4) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(4) (“commodity interest™),
including but not limited to, the following:

1. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is
defined in Section 1a(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(29);

1. engaging in, controlling or directing the trading for any commodity
interest account for or on behalf of any other person or entity, whether by

power of attorney or otherwise;

iii. soliciting or accepting any funds from any person in connection with
the purchase or sale of any commodity interest;

12
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1v. entering into any commodity interest transactions for his own personal
account, for any account in which he has a direct or indirect interest and/or
having any commodity interests traded on his behalf;

v. engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest
trading; and

vi. applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with
the Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring
such registration or exemption from registration with the Commission,
except as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9)
(2008), or acting as a principal, agent or any other officer or employee of
any person registered, exempted from registration or required to be
registered with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation
4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2008);

¢) an order directing the Defendants to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the
Court may order, all benefits received from the acts or practices that constitute
violations of the Act or Commission Regulations, as described herein, and pre-
and post-judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations;

d) an order directing the Defendants to make full restitution to every participant
whose funds they received as a result of acts and practices that constituted
violations of the Act and Commission Regulations, described herein, and pre- and
post-judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations;

e) an order directing the Defendants to each pay a civil monetary penalty in the
amount of not more than the higher of $120,000 or triple the monetary gain to
Defendant for each violation of the Act or Commission Regulations committed
before October, 24, 2004, and the higher $130,000 or triple the monetary gain to
Defendant for each violation of the Act or Commission Regulations committed
from October 24, 2004 to the present; and

f) such other and further remedial ancillary relief as the Court may deem
appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

G

Alan Edelman

Florida Bar #A5500704
James H. Holl, III

Florida Bar #A5501063
1155 21st St. N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20581
Telephone: (202) 418-5000
Facsimile: (202) 418-5538

13
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E-Mail: aedelman@cftc.gov; jholl@cttc.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Dated: February 20, 2009

14
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